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Introduction 

 
Northbrae Community Church has served the surrounding communities for a full century.  

Its history is rich with stories of the changing times and the pastorates of five ministers.  

 

Frances Conley, our former Northbrae historian, in celebration of Northbraeôs 70th 

anniversary, wrote a pamphlet entitled The First Six Years.  At that time she stated,  ñThe 

time has not yet arrived for the writing of a definitive history of Northbrae Community 

Church.ò For our Centennial Celebration, we offer a booklet of vignettes about Northbraeôs 

history in an attempt to show the ongoing spirit of our church.   

 

Northbrae has had many different chapters. With Francesô help, we have looked most 

intensely at the early history, while simply acknowledging some parts of our more recent 

history. In some cases, many years are covered in a single page.  

 

Please enjoy these stories and appreciate some of the contributions that Northbrae 

Community Church has made over the past century in its role as a broad religious and civic 

home for this North Berkeley community and beyond.  

 

 

We dedicate this book  

to  Northbrae members and leaders  

who have been 

" Our Northbrae Family"  

For 100 Years 

 

 

The Northbrae Centennial History Committee  

Barbara Hill, researcher and author of most of these pages,  

Ruth Brayton  and  Dianne McNenny, Centennial Committee Co-Chairs,  

and  Carol Coon,  Centennial Booklet 

 

 

 

 

 

Special appreciation to Barbara and Curtis Hill for the gift of this book to honor and 

preserve our Northbrae history . 
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we are indebted that we cannot name them all and are certain to leave out many important people.  

We apologize for any ñsins of omission.ò  

 

Special thanks go to Richmond Cross, the youngest son of Rev. Laurance Cross, for his many 

generous comments; to Harley Jessup, son of Rev. Craig Jessup, for his beautiful artistic centennial 

poster and excerpts from his fatherôs memoirs; and to Marjorie Jessup, Craigôs widow, who shared 
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everyone who contributed their memories; the late Frances Conley; and Peter Shelton and Russell 

Lachelt (grandsons of Rev. Cross).  
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Internet or on microfilm at the Berkeley Public Library (direct quotes are cited in the text); books 
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including but not limited to Ancestry.com; and material from our own church archives tucked away 
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photographs and memorabilia in a scrapbook.  Often several sources were consulted on a single 

topic, then combined, synthesized, adapted, and condensed, and sometimes supplemented by the 

accounts of participants, making it nearly impossible to sort out every contributing source.  

 

Much of the text was originally published as a series of ñCentennial Tidbitsò inserted in the Sunday 

bulletin over several months, but this booklet includes additional information from our church 

website (as of 2013) and a selection of photographs, most of which are in the churchôs possession.  

Limitations on our time and available space have meant that many of our wonderful church 

members and volunteers remain unsung, even those who have contributed so much time and effort 

to our community life at Northbrae, and many stories remain untold.  Although the definitive history 

of our church has yet to be written, this centennial exercise has been a voyage of discovery into the 

unique history of an unusual institution.  We hope you will savor its uniqueness.  
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Why Are the 

Sidewalks Pink? 

 

Northbrae Community Church takes its name 

from the name of the subdivision in which it is 

located, which was developed by the Mason-

McDuffie real estate company in 1907.   

According to the Berkeley Architectural Heritage 

Association, the subdivision was named 

ñNorthbraeò by Charles Mills Gayley (namesake 

of Gayley Road, which runs through the UC 

Berkeley campus between Bancroft Way and 

Hearst Street).  

 

Northbrae was an unusually well-planned 

subdivision, with roads and streets and much of 

the landscaping installed before lots were sold.  

It covered nearly 1000 acres, roughly from 

Solano Avenue on the north, Eunice and 

Hopkins on the south, Spruce on the east, and 

Tulare on the west.  The fountain and balustrade 

at the Marin traffic circle, and the stone corner 

pillars still to be found sprinkled through the 

area, were designed by John Galen Howard, 

noted architect of much of the UC Berkeley 

campus.  

 

Sidewalks of pink concrete were poured 

throughout the subdivision.  Except where they 

have been replaced, many of these pink 

sidewalks still remain throughout the Northbrae 

district, and are still in good shape after more  

 

 

 

 

than a century.  Even some replaced portions 

have been tinted pink to match.  Take a look 

outside the Chapel!  Is history literally 

underfoot?  

 

The developers offered to donate 40 acres of the 

subdivision to the state in exchange for having 

the state capital moved from Sacramento to 

Berkeley.  In fact, the Marin traffic circle was 

intended to be a grand entrance to the site.  This 

is the reason the subdivision streets were mostly 

named for California counties.  So many people 

were enthusiastic about moving the capital that a 

measure was put on the ballot in November of 

1908, but the majority of the statewide vote was 

not in favor of the move.  

 

The East Bay in general, and Berkeley in 

particular, were growing rapidly following the 

1906 earthquake and fire which displaced so 

many people from their homes in San Francisco.  

The Northbrae subdivision had seemed almost 

rural at first, but improved transportation in the 

form of electric train lines made commuting easy 

and the area grew rapidly.  Many well-known 

Berkeley architects designed homes for the new 

owners, including Walter Ratcliff, Julia Morgan, 

and John Hudson Thomas, the latter being the 

architect of what we now call Haver Hall.   
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Pioneer Founders of 

Northbrae (Part 1) 

 

According to an article in the Oakland Tribune 

on December 24, 1920, ñThe germ of the 

Northbrae Community church originated in the 

mind of the late Rev. George Eldridge, pastor of 

St. Johnôs Presbyterian church, Berkeley.  Mrs. 

Annie Little Barry co -operated with Dr. Eldridge 

and it was through her efforts that the first group 

gathered together at the home of W. B. Pressly 

for the first meeting.ò  

 

George Granville Eldredge (the proper spelling), 

born in Iowa in 1870, graduated from the San 

Francisco Theological Seminary (which is in San 

Anselmo, Marin County) in 1897.  He became 

pastor of St. Johnôs Presbyterian Church in San 

Francisco.  The 1906 earthquake and fire 

devastated the homes of many of his 

parishioners, who moved to Berkeley rather than 

rebuild, and who founded a new Presbyterian 

church in Berkeley named after their old one.  

Rev. Eldredge accepted their call to become the 

first minister.  

 

During the years following the 1906 earthquake, 

Berkeley was the fastest-growing city in 

California.  That rapid growth probably gave 

Rev. Eldredge the idea for the founding of a new 

church to serve the Northbrae subdivision.  

 

Rev. Eldredge died at the age of 47 on October 9, 

1918.  A brief history of St. Johnôs Church in 

Berkeley says he was a victim of the great 

Spanish Influenza pandemic; however, the 

Marin Journal, discussing his death in an article  

 

 

 

 

 

 

published Nov. 28, 1918, said he ñdied recently of 

pneumonia, super induced by hardships that he 

underwent while in war service work in the 

Vosges mountains with the American troops.ò  

Both could be true; after six months in France he 

returned with his health ruined, and may have 

caught the flu which turned into pneumonia.  

 

Mrs. Annie Little Barry was born in 1864 and 

grew up in the Hollister area.  She and her 

husband, Edward Stanley Barry, lived at 1935 El 

Dorado Ave. in the Northbrae district in 1914.  

He died in 1924, and she moved to Regent Street 

in Berkeley, where she was a member of St. 

Johnôs Presbyterian Church.  She was also a 

member of several womenôs clubs, which in 

those days were extremely important in bringing 

about civic improvements; and in 1931 she was 

elected president of the California Federation of 

Womenôs Clubs.  Her skill at organizing was 

probably critical to the founding of our church.  

She was one of the first women in California to 

enter the field of parliamentary law, and became 

an instructor and lecturer on the subject in the 

University of Californiaôs Extension Division.  

She wrote a short ñManual of Parliamentary 

Usageò which can be found on the Internet.  

 

Annie and her husband had three sons, one of 

whom died during World War I.  She died in 

1939 and is buried in Hollister near her 

husband and one of their sons.  
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Pioneer Founders of 

Northbrae (Part 2) 

 

The first meeting that led to the founding of 

Northbrae Community Church was reported by 

the Oakland Tribune (in 1920) to have taken 

place ñat the home of W. B. Pressly.ò  William 

Burrows Pressley (the proper spelling) was born 

in 1847 in South Carolina.  He was a cadet at the 

South Carolina Military Academy during the 

Civil War.  In 1869, he came to California with 

several other family members, sailing to 

Panama, crossing the Isthmus, and taking 

another ship to San Francisco.  The family first 

settled on a ranch near Suisun, in Solano 

County, but William later moved to Rio Vista in 

1871.  His first wife died in 1883, and he married 

his second wife, Mary, in 1895.  They had two 

children, Eva and Jackson Pressley.  Eva married 

Neil Hamilton, and her descendants operate the 

Hamilton Bros. Ranch in Rio Vista to this day.  

 

In 1910, William and Mary Pressley moved to 

Berkeley so Eva and ñJackò could attend high 

school and later UC Berkeley.  The Oakland-

Berkeley city directories list their home 

consistently from 1912 until Williamôs death in 

1930 as having been at 1003 Mariposa Street, in 

the Northbrae subdivision; and Mary continued 

to live there until her death.  It is certain, then, 

that Northbrae Community Church was born at 

that address.  

 

William B. Pressley died on October 17, 1930, 

one day before his 83rd birthday, and 

Northbraeôs second pastor, Rev. Lawrence L. 

Cross, officiated at his funeral.  His obituary  

 

 

 

 

 

 

noted that Pressley was ñone of the founders of 

Northbrae Community Church.ò   1003 Mariposa 

Street is at the corner of Los Angeles.  It appears 

that the house has been remodeled at some point 

and now opens on Los Angeles and has an 

address on that street; yet, ñ1003ò is still 

prominently marked on the side fence on 

Mariposa Street.  As it turns out, Northbrae 

Community Churchôs former parsonage was at 

2064 Los Angeles, where our second minister, 

Rev. Laurance Cross and his family lived, and 

the house at 1003 Mariposa was (and is) its next-

door neighbor.  Rev. Crossôs son, Richmond 

Cross, remembers some of the Pressley 

grandchildren coming to visit their widowed 

grandmother.  Mary died June 23, 1941 at age 

81; she too should be remembered as a founder.  

 

The Tribune article of 1920 said that the first 

task of the church founders was ñto find a man 

far seeing enough to labor in the new field, 

carrying a vision of a new church and all that it 

would mean to the community.  Such a man was 

found in Rev. Frank S. Brush, then pastor of the 

Presbyterian church of Alameda.ò    

 



Page  4 

 

Frank S. Brush 
 
 
The stained glass ñTorchbearerò windows in the 

chapel of Northbrae Community Church run 

chronologically from the front, near the pulpit, 

to the back of the sanctuary along the north 

wall.  Near the rear pews, one of the windows 

bears the name of Frank S. Brush, and depicts a 

man in a suit standing in front of a small temple 

(done in red), with a little yellow inset carrying 

the name Northbrae Community Church.  Frank 

Brush was the first minister of our church, 

serving for ten years.   

 

Frank Spencer Brush was born June 7, 1857 in 

Zanesville, Ohio.  He graduated from Marietta 

College in Marietta, Ohio, in 1878; attended 

Princeton Theological Seminary,  and graduated  

from Lane Theological Seminary, Cincinnati, in 

1881.  From 1881 to 1886 he was a pastor at the 

First Presbyterian Church of Bloomington, 

Illinois.  He married Elizabeth Peters Spencer in 

1886 in Zanesville; she was born in 1861, and 

together they had three children.   

 

Frank Brush was pastor of the First Presbyterian 

Church of Las Vegas, N.M., from 1889 to 1892; 

then worked in Los Gatos, Calif.; then became 

pastor of the First Presbyterian Church in 

Alameda from 1894 to 1914, a period of twenty 

years.  During his tenure in Alameda, the 

congregation outgrew its original building and 

erected a new church at the corner of Santa 

Clara and Chestnut which has been in 

continuous use since, and in 1977 was declared 

an Alameda Historical Monument.  Rev. Brush 

received an honorary Doctor of Divinity degree 

conferred by Marietta College in 1897, and was 

often referred to as Dr. Brush thereafter.  In the 

spring of 1914 he was called to become the  

pastor for the 

new church  

being founded 

in the 

Northbrae 

residential 

subdivision in 

Berkeley.  

 

The Oakland 

Tribune of 

June 19, 1914, 

reported that ñDr. and Mrs. Frank S. Brush and 

family are to remove to their new home in 

Northbrae this coming week, when the pretty 

residence will be completed and ready for 

occupancy...  Dr. Brush is in charge of the new 

parish, which is  being established in the rapidly 

growing district of beautiful homes and has 

been engaged on his duties for the past month 

and more.ò  The new home was at 1929 El 

Dorado Ave., and it was in his home that the 

new congregation met for some time.  

Outgrowing that, they met in a garage on his 

property for a while; although it no longer 

exists, a cabin-like structure was built on the 

original footprint by later owners.  The next 

home for the rapidly -growing new congregation 

was the Mason-McDuffie real estate tract office 

located where the round firehouse is now, on 

Marin Avenue.  

 

Rev. Brush was well-traveled, and was a 

member of the Commonwealth Club and several 

other organizations.  He died on March 13, 1940 

at his home on El Dorado Street at the age of 82; 

his widow Elizabeth died April 3, 1953 at the age 

of 91.  They are buried (or at least have markers) 

in Greenwood Cemetery, Zanesville, Ohio.  
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Northbrae Walks 

Alone 

 

On Saturday, February 7, 1914, the Berkeley 

Daily Gazette reported:  ñThe Northbrae 

Presbyterian church, recently organized, will 

hold the first service at 11 oôclock tomorrow 

morning at the residence of Mr. and Mrs. W. H. 

Pressley, southwest corner of Los Angeles and 

Mariposa avenue, Northbrae.  Rev. Frank Brush 

of the Alameda Presbyterian church will preach.ò  

 

Two years later, when the Princeton Theological 

Seminaryôs class of 1881 was about to hold its 

35th reunion, members of the class were 

contacted with the purpose of updating their 

biographies.  Rev. Brush responded from 

Berkeley as follows:  

 

ñMy dear Classmate:  

 

ñYour letter and genial invitation to our class 

dinner sent a thrill through me; it started all the 

memory cells to work and the old times at 

Princeton came back with lingering and longing 

thoughts.  ... 

 

ñYou have asked for something like a narrative of 

the past five years; out of a fraternal regard for 

my assembled classmates permit me to omit it.  

In our Presbyterian system the deadliest thing is 

the ñnarrative.ò  I wonder sometimes how the 

church has survived this sore affliction of all our 

ecclesiastic bodies.  ... 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ñI may add this, that the life of the minister 

never seemed to me more alluring and the work 

never more enticing than now.  I have never had 

a happier or more joyous experience in my life 

than in my present pastorate.  I took up a 

pioneer work in a newly laid out suburb and 

became a home missionary without any of the 

hardships or picturesque experiences of the old 

fashioned heroes who have laid the foundations 

of our Christian civilization in America.  This 

year will complete my home missionary career 

and the Northbrae church will walk alone.ò  

 

By ñwalking alone,ò we can infer that he meant 

Northbrae would be self-supporting from then 

on, paying for its own minister rather than 

relying on the Presbytery, and would no longer 

be what was then called a ñhome missionò (as 

opposed to a mission established overseas).  

Frank Brush remained pastor of Northbrae until 

his retirement in 1924.  

 

Northbrae Presbyterian Church submitted its 

Articles of Incorporation to the State of 

California on February 5, 1916.  A year later, on 

February 1, 1917, ñNorthbrae Presbyterian 

Church, a religious corporation,ò purchased lots 

23, 24, 25, and 26 of Block no. 1 of ñBerkeley 

Square.ò  (More lots were added later.)  And after 

Northbrae left the Presbyterian denomination to 

become a truly independent community church, 

Reverend Brushôs words sound almost prophetic.    
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THE DREAM OF A NEW 

BUILDING - 1916 - 1920 

 

 

In January of 1916, there was discussion of the 

possibility of building a church.  In March, the 

session (the governing body of a Presbyterian 

church) voted to take a three-month option on 

two lots at the corner of The Alameda and Los 

Angeles, where they planned to erect a tent!  

Eventually the lots were bought, but we hear no 

more about the tent idea. The annual report in 

March shows support of the denomination at 

about three times the amount of the previous 

year.  Membership has doubled to sixty-five.  

The Sabbath School too has doubled to one 

hundred and fifteen, with average attendance of 

sixty-eight children.  

 

We have no account of exactly how they taught 

that many children in the little chapel the size of 

a garage.  However, it is no surprise that by 

Easter Sunday they have found a new meeting 

place, which was in a building they called the 

Mason McDuffie clubhouse.  Probably Mason 

McDuffie has closed the sales office by this date, 

and has left the building as a clubhouse for the 

neighborhood. 

 

There were one hundred and forty worshipers at 

the Easter service, and one hundred and sixteen 

in the Sunday School.  The minutes of the 

session report that 'The building was found to be 

much more commodious and comfortable than 

the chapel formerly used."  An evening service 

was held for the first time.    

 

  

 

 

 

January 6, 1917, the United States entered World 

War I, but there is never any suggestion that this 

had any impact on the church at all. 

 

On January 7 we are told that the communion 

service was postponed "on account of the 

unsettled state of affairs regarding the zone 

ordinance and the church lot."  This probably 

refers to gaining permission to build a church on 

land zoned as residential.  But what this has to 

do with the postponement of a communion 

service remains a mystery. 

 

In November there is the only reference to the 

war.  One hundred special war emergency 

envelopes were ordered. 

 

On Easter Sunday in 1918, at the suggestion of 

Dr. Brush, "a union sunrise prayer meeting" was 

held for the first time at Cragmont Rock.  

 

At the end of July reference is made to a Daily 

Vacation Bible School already held. 

 

We learn that in October "The completion of the 

addition to the present building has greatly 

facilitated the work of the Sunday school, 

especially by providing three separate 

classrooms."  More research will be necessary to 

interpret this information.  It may indicate that 

the church has bought the Mason-McDuffie 

building, and has added three rooms to it. 
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November 11.  There is no mention of the end of 

World War I.  

 

December 4.  At last there is an event in the 

outside world which cannot be ignored by the 

session.  Sunday evening services will not be 

resumed because of the influenza epidemic.  

Sunday School was closed January 12.  Dr. Brush 

secured a permit for worship service on January 

23, and a short service was held, but communion 

was postponed.  Study classes are postponed 

until February.  

 

GROUND BREAKING - 1919 

 

In March of 1919, there are plans for another 

sunrise service at Cragmont Rock. 

 

In April a need is expressed for three ushers, one 

at each door.  (This must be a clue as to the 

nature of the building being used.) 

 

Plans are made for a Daily Vacation Bible School 

to last for four weeks.  The annual report shows a 

gift to foreign missions of $104.20, with $264 to 

home missions - six times as much as had been 

given just three years earlier. 

 

At Easter there were two hundred twenty-eight 

in the congregation, and some were turned away. 

 

In April plans were progressing for the badly 

needed new church.  An agreement has been 

reached with the Church Extension Board of the 

Presbytery in which they will pay the interest on 

a $10,000 loan from the time of ground breaking 

for the new church to the time that $10,000 is 

received from the Board of Church Erection, but 

not for more than one year. 

 

Obviously the new church is being built during 

the rest of the year, but there is no mention of it 

in the minutes of the session. 

 

THE NEW CHURCH IS COMPLETED - 1920 

 

In January of 1920, with the new building almost 

finished, new hymnals are ordered, and the 

Pilgrim Hymnal is chosen.  This is a 

Congregational hymnal, and may be a small hint 

that there is some movement away from 

Presbyterian ties. 

 

On Saturday, April 3, the following paragraph 

appeared in the news article reporting Easter 

observances on the first page of the Berkeley 

Daily Gazette:  "The Northbrae Presbyterian 

Church will observe Easter by holding their first 

church service in the new building at The 

Alameda and Los Angeles Street.  Holy 

Communion will be held at 6 and 8 o'clock in the 

morning, with morning prayer and communion 

at 11 o'clock.  The church school festival will be 

held at 7 o'clock  in the evening." 
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On the church page we read:  "The congregation 

of the Northbrae Presbyterian Church will meet 

tomorrow morning for the first time in the new 

building, corner of The Alameda and Los Angeles 

Avenue.  Dr. R.S. Donaldson and Dr. Weston 

Johnson will assist in the morning services.  The 

music will be in charge of Mr. Alexander Perie, 

organist and musical director.  The evening 

service will consist of special Easter music and a 

Resurrection Tableau.  Hours: 9:45 am; 11 am; 

7:30 pm."  

 

There were six hundred in attendance at this 

first service in the new church, an d sixty-six new 

members were received.  With almost four 

hundred in Sunday School that day, even the 

brand-new church must have seemed scarcely 

large enough. 

 

The annual report for this last year before 

moving into the new church is significant 

primarily because it reveals a good deal of 

selectivity as compared with the first years, when 

a standard amount seems to have been given to 

all causes.  Most of the amounts have been 

increased---not much considering the seven-fold 

increase in membership, but now there is a big 

building fund to support.  There must not have 

been much enthusiasm for the cause of 

temperance, which has increased from $2.00 in 

the first year to $2.63 in 1919. 
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Northbrae in 1920 

 

 

The Oakland Tribune , on December 24, 1920, 

published an article about Northbraeôs history 

although it was only six years old at the time.  

The headline read ñNine Sects in Northbraeôs 

Church Colonyò and the article was accompanied 

by photos; one taken in 1915 showing the 

garage/real estate office which was originally 

used for meetings; one of Rev. Frank S. Brush, 

our founding minister; and one taken in 1920 in 

front of the newly -completed Haver Hall, with 

hundreds of church members covering what is 

now the front lawn.  Worthy of note is that 

although Northbrae was founded as a 

Presbyterian church, it was already known in 

1920 as ñNorthbrae Community Churchò when 

the photo captions were written.  

 

The article began, ñThrough the desire of the 

church first established in Northbrae and the 

judgment of the people now comprising its 

membership, this church aims to provide 

acceptable worship, work and fellowship to all 

followers of Jesus Christ. . . . Its creed is simply 

the common faith of Christendom, belief in God 

the Father, in Jesus Christ our Saviour, and the 

obligation and privilege of practicing the Golden 

Rule.ò 

 

The article noted that ñNo one is unduly urged to 

leave his own particular church but any and all 

who love God will be welcome to a membership 

that now comprises representatives of nine of the 

great historic churches.ò  It didnôt say which nine 

denominations were represented, but went on to 

describe the rooms in Haver Hall.  It then  

 

 

 

 

 

concluded, ñBy being non-sectarian the church 

has developed within itself a spirit that extends 

throughout the community.  It is indeed a 

community church and as such has the entire 

community of Northbrae working actively for its 

success.ò  

 

As we look back over Northbraeôs past one 

hundred years, it is remarkable how closely our 

church has adhered to its original commitment 

to inclusiveness, becoming even more inclusive 

as the decades have passed.  Our second 

minister, Rev. Laurance Cross, wrote a tiny 

booklet during his tenure entitled ñA New Kind 

of Church.ò  In it, he stated that Northbrae ñis 

Christian in the sense that 99% of its members 

are Christian.  It is not Christian in the sense 

that it will take into full membership a Jew, a 

Buddhist, a Muslim, a Hindu -- anybody who 

will promise to do good and be good.ò  

 

In explaining Northbraeôs beliefs, Rev. Cross 

said, ñThe difference between the creed of our 

church and the creed of other churches is that 

with us each member carries his creed in his own 

name and not in the name of the church.  In 

other words, a member answers to his own 

conscience and to God and not to the church 

corporation.ò  He then quoted our Statement of 

Purpose, which is printed on our bulletin every 

Sunday, and concluded, ñThis and only this is the 

statement required of all members.ò  
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Haver Hall in 1920 

 

The April 1920 issue of ñHome Lands,ò a 

Presbyterian Church magazine, contained a 

short article about Northbrae Community 

Church, along with a floor plan of the new 

church building that was then under 

construction.  After a short summary of our 

churchôs founding, the article got to the heart of 

the new buildingôs design:  ñThe pastor and 

others had a vision of a Church serving the whole 

community, and so strong was their faith that 

rather than build a small denominational church 

building, they accepted an invitation to hold 

their services in a large real estate tract office 

until such time as their vision could be 

materialized.ò   

 

In 1919, the congregation had mounted a hugely 

successful fundraising campaign and hired John 

Hudson Thomas (1878-1945) as architect.  Born 

in Nevada, he grew up in the Bay Area, 

graduated from Yale in 1902, and obtained a 

degree in architecture in 1904 from UC Berkeley.  

He designed many notable homes in the 

Berkeley hills, and his own home is a Kensington 

landmark.  The church he designed for 

Northbrae was unusual in that it was two stories, 

incorporating both church and community hall.  

 

The ñHome Landsò article said of the church, ñIt 

is designed to be the social center of the district.  

Any organization, whether political, social, or 

civic, may use the building on obtaining consent. 

...  Concerts and motion pictures both will be 

enjoyed, as well as public lectures. ...  It is 

expected to be maintained by the ordinary 

church subscriptions of the church members,  

 

although some charge will be made for the use of 

the bowling alley.ò  (For a time there was a small 

bowling alley in the basement, used mostly by 

the Boy Scouts.)  

 

The Oakland Tribune, on December 24, 1920, 

had more to add:  ñThe building, as it now 

stands, contains five small club rooms, a menôs 

club furnished with billiard tables, a room which 

has been converted into a Masonic room for the 

use of the Thousand Oaks chapter of the Masons, 

and a boysô club which is used as a kindergarten 

room during the week.  On the main floor is an 

assembly room with a seating capacity of five 

hundred...ò  [This was where services were held 

until the Chapel was built.]  ñBy being non-

sectarian the church has developed within itself 

a spirit that extends throughout the community.  

It is indeed a community church and as such has 

the entire community of Northbrae working 

actively for its success.ò  

 

Nearly a century later, Northbraeôs original 

church building is still used daily for group 

meetings and community functions of all kinds.  

Our founders were indeed far-seeing.  At first, 

and for many years, the building was not called 

Haver Hall; it was simply Northbrae 

Community Church.   
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